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SHEFFIELD MILL
By Hylda Rawlings
By the last decade of the fifteenth century, the Weald was heavily engaged in producing iron. Local men were aided by workers from the Low Countries who, with their knowledge of blast furnaces, enabled production to be greatly increased. The Weald of Sussex and Kent, with its heavy clay soil and small streams running red with deposits of iron, had been extensively worked and iron had been produced and traded during the Roman occupation of Britain. When the Romans left, the making of iron virtually ceased. A little iron began again to be made in the Middle Ages, but it was the coming of the blast furnace from the Low Countries that made all the difference. The Weald became the most important place for producing iron in the whole of England.
Danehill was in the thick of the action. There were a number of furnaces and forges in the locality. What was the difference between a 'furnace' and a 'forge'?
A Furnace  A furnace was used to smelt the ore; water power being employed to work the bellows.
A Forge  A forge was an immense hammer driven by water power which beat the cast iron produced into malleable iron which could be worked by the blacksmiths.
The nearest furnaces to Danehill were:-
Sheffield Furnace and hammer pond. This was sited on the River Ouse, east of Furners Green, and was later re-used as a corn mill TQ4229.
Horsted Keynes Furnace. This used the tail racefrom an adjacent corn mill TQ379287
The nearest forges in our locality were:‑
Fletching Forge, at the bottom of Mill Lane. This was reused as a corn mill and has now been completely demolished. TQ424229.
Freshfield Forge, near the Sloop Inn at Scaynes Hill. Thishas a water course and stream bed and the remains of corn mill. TQ38625.
Sheffield Forge. This is sited on the River Ouse by Sheffield Bridge on the A275. The pond is now completely dry - the original leat was destroyed when the railway was built. The east boundary ditch of the meadow known as Hammer Ditch was part of the tail race. The eastern end was the working area, where forge bottoms and cinders can be found. TQ404238.
From about 1490 skilled foreign workers (mostly Frenchmen) settled here and inter-married with local girls or with the daughters of their compatriots. English workmen came here to seek employment. Rich men used their wealth to finance the industry, both to build furnaces and forges and to supply the timber needed to heat them. As they prospered they built themselves substantial timber-framed houses - the so‑called 'iron‑master's houses' - and purchased land to go with them.
Soon peaceful country districts were transformed. Great red fires glowed and the smoke polluted the air. Timber was felled or trees were pollarded to fuel the hungry furnace. People have described a furnace site as being like a scene from hell, but in these huge ugly places there was a great deal of money to be made.
Two centuries were to elapse before the iron industry in the Weald began to falter. When a coke-blasting furnace was invented in c.1710, iron production became centred on the Midlands and Scotland, and farming became the main source of income in the Weald. Many of the redundant ironworks were converted into corn mills, whilst others lay desolate and abandoned.
Sheffield Furnace, Fletching. TQ416257.
After the demise of the iron industry this was converted into a corn mill which itself ceased work in 1921. Today the miller's house is still inhabited and has been extended and modernized. The north part was built in the late 16th century. The south part was added later and was built on iron-slag foundations. The disused mill with its great water wheel and water race are still there. To the north of the properly, beyond the bridge and causeway leading into Sheffield Forest, there lies a beautiful tranquil lake, the haunt of water birds. The flames of the furnace have been stilled for ever, the corn mill has ceased to function, now all is peace and beauty and stillness, a complete contrast to the noise and shouting made by the workers employed at the iron furnace in Sheffield Forest four centuries ago.
NOTES AND REFERENCES
Sheffield Mill Farm and an entrance into Sheffield Forest are accessed by a lane (footpath only to non‑residents of the lane) from Furners Green, or from a footpath by North Hall Farm, off the road running between the Sheffield Arms on the A275 and Splaynes Green, near Fletching.
Wealden Iron' by Ernest Straker, first published 1931.
'The Iron Industry of the Weald' by Henry Cleere and David Crossley, with contributions by Bernard Wossam and Members of The Wealden Research Group, published 1985. This lists previously unrecorded furnaces and forges, and also amends and extends (in the light of fifty years of further research) the information first printed in 'Wealden Iron'.
Members of the Danehill Parish Historical Society study group have linked all this information with our research into the local history of our area.
------------------------
THE MILL IN SHEFFIELD FOREST {IN 1931}
By R. Thurston Hopkins
Sheffield Forest is a name that is suggestive of Vulcan and his metal‑workers; but when one is wandering in the deep glens and lanes which make it one of the most picturesque spots in Sussex it is difficult to imagine that the manufacture of iron ever flourished in such a rural district. Nevertheless, by some strange concurrence of events, Sheffield Forest was actually a Sheffield in something more than name, if we go back three hundred years, and here in the forest and around the glassy lake there was a furnace that glowed and flared to the blast of great bellows; and a ponderous water‑wheel which rumbled and roared from morning till night. The furnaces and forges were long ago swallowed up by the green turf, and one has to be a shrewd investigator to find any traces of them at all. The iron‑works at Sheffield Bridge is mentioned in documents dated 1574, but it is said that it was ruined before 1653. Sheffield Forest has now lost much of its timber.' it was once an almost impenetrable forest, and even in Saxton's map of 1577 it is marked as part of one of the thirty‑five important Wealden Forests.
The Old Mill in the Forest about a mile south of Colin Godmans can be reached by a track from the road running between Splaynes Green and Sheffield Green. It takes the pedestrian over scarred stone causeways through fern‑glades and over deep mossy footways to a secret farm‑house in a deep gorge. Above the farm​house is the great lake, a noble sheet of water, full of dancing reflections and colour, reaching as far as the eye can penetrate and merging itself into the dim blue and green mystery of the forest.
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AN ANCIENT FORGE HAMMER—The water wheel turns the shaft, and the metal knobs projectin
from the arm-case catch the helve under the belly causing the hammer to lift and fall



The water‑course of the forest furnace still remains, and a very ancient water‑mill also survives. The water‑mill probably stands on the site of the furnace water‑wheel. For mills are like churches, each one stands on the site of an older one, and that, again, in the place of one still older, till we go back to the days when topographical writers were roasted as wizards and there are no records to tell who first selected the sites for our places of work and worship.
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The 16th century mill house stands in the valley below the lake - a quaint little timber‑framed abode with paved footways of old mill stones leading down to the mill, and numerous deep‑worn paths whereby the forgemen went to and fro from their homes, and up which the teams of horses or oxen dragged the wagons loaded with iron‑ore, or strings of pack horses passed, their panniers filled with the precious cargo. What strikes the observer more particularly in these old mills is the enormous strength of their interior construction. The beams which carry the bearings of the water shaft and the other machinery are each formed, apparently from an entire tree‑trunk roughly squared. I was forced to conclude that these beams, black and as unyielding as iron, had once seen service in the old iron​works and were incorporated in the new corn mill when the furnacewas dismantled. All the gear‑wheels inside the mill are made entirely of oak with mortice teeth of applewood, and, at a guess one might say that they have seen nearly two hundred years of service, with an occasional overhaul by the [image: image3.jpg]


mill‑wrights.
We know that the massive pond‑bay at this spot was originally erected by the forgemen and was deserted by them about 1650, and when you know that you know almost as much as the inquisitive visitor may guess. The present water‑mill must go back two hundred years; and some of the stonework in it is probably from the remains of the furnace buildings. The age of the corn mill is not difficult to guess, or rather to calculate, for the discarded mill stones act as a set of calculating tables. There are probably a dozen and a half of them in and around the mill and the barns, and 1 must confess 1 have never seen such a collection of ancient and curiously shaped mill stones. The life of a mill stone is between 25 and 50 years; some of them wear longer. if we say that a new pair of stones was installed every thirty years, this reckoning will fix the age of the mill as something near 270 years; a date which very nicely coincides with the date when the iron forge on this spot was closed down. All ages are represented in the water‑mill as it stands today. Some of the large blocks of iron‑stone which form its lower supports carry the lichens of centuries. The ancient red tiled roof is almost hidden under thick moss cushions and plumes of ivy which have gathered and grown as the slow years have passed along; and here and there the trailing feather‑moss hangs down in long green stalactites. Altogether a picturesque old mill in picturesque surroundings. Sheffield Mill is a case where water power, organized for use in conjunction with an iron furnace, has been adapted for corn. Other examples are common up and down the country.
NOTES AND REFERENCES
Mr. R. Thurston Hopkins' article, together with the beautiful illustrations, were first published in the 'Sussex County Magazine' Volume 4, Number 2, July 1930, entitled 'Some Sussex Gun Forges'. The article on Sheffield Mill has been extracted and edited where, in the light of further research, there were a few inaccuracies in the text. Sixty years later it is interesting to read of items he found there, such as the mill stones, which may not be there now.
